
Peptides Memoirs in Space Station 14 
Written by Peptide, Credentials and preface: 

-​ Previous top 10 contributor to Wizden, starting in February 2021, One of the first 
mappers on SS14 besides PJB (Saltern) and Timrod (Packed). I created the first 
medium to high pop map NSS Pillar as well as Split Station, wrote the mapping wiki 
and maintained it till 2024 and helped countless mappers get into SS14 who are 
responsible for some of the maps you love now. 

-​ Previous Game Admin from around December 2021 till around 2023 when I stepped 
down, again one of the most active admins during the 2022 period alongside 
Pancake and a few others who we taught, outlasting quite a few of those which will 
be touched on later. 

-​ Owner / Founder of Singularity Network, Previously just Nuclear 14. I started 
Nuclear-14 in July 2022 because I was fed up with how disjointed it was contributing 
to Wizden. Having some maintainers impose their gameplay design and bias and at 
other times leave it as a free for all so my PRs would get countered the next week. I 
raised my issues with multiple people but change started to happen too little too late. 
Despite the discord for Nuclear14 / SiN starting in July 2022 we didn’t manage to 
launch the alpha for Nuclear14 until August 2023 due to personal commitments and 
lack of contributors. 

-​ For further context, I never intended to start a community in SS14. I ran communities 
on minecraft and more on Gmod successfully from around 2009 to around 2015 from 
DarkRP and TTT to openaura / clockwork / nutscript with the latter being a minor 
contributor. I left that all behind due to life commitments and just wanted to contribute 
and make a difference in SS14. I actually stumbled across RE:SS3D first then quickly 
realised the 3D Spess game wasn’t the best format and then quickly discovered 
SS14 so started piecemeal contributing here while working away from home. 

 
At the time of writing it's now the end of January 2025, I was banned from Wizden discord in 
November / December 2024 for being outspoken about the handling of things and for asking 
difficult questions, or just because PJB now hates me, more on that later. It will likely be 
February 2025 by the time this comes out. 
 
I will lay out everything as logically and as verbatim as possible. I honestly don’t have sides 
in this and historically there has only been one person in this project I did not get along with, 
and they got removed after I stopped contributing, only after they had driven many 
contributors away from the project. To lay my cards on the table, the only other person I now 
dislike is PJB, for how they’ve acted throughout this process and how they seem to have 
made up their mind of me and will do everything they can to not see things for how they 
might be. 
 
I am not your typical internet dweller or “game developer”. I’m a late 20s British guy who 
works in Engineering and Construction. I’m passionate about tech, I enjoy gaming and I’m 
also passionate about inspiring students to get into STEM careers which is what I spend a 
lot of time doing when I’m not working or raising my young family. I’ve never frequented 
4chan, I played SS14 on paradise station for a few years, years ago and I barely even 
frequent reddit anymore because life is too short to be terminally online. It’s very likely I have 



ADHD but I don’t let things like that define me and I definitely don’t have autism. Tl:Dr, 
looking at me you wouldn’t think I run gaming communities, like roleplaying or do amateur 
game development. 
 
And a final note before I move onto the next section. I never wanted things to go the way 
they have. Dividing the community isn’t good for anyone and for the longest time I actually 
wanted to be a maintainer / PM for Wizden to help them steer the ship in the right direction, 
but that never came to be. I have zero allegiance to anyone and to expand on me not being 
terminally online, I barely have the bandwidth to keep up with my own discord server, 
nevermind two or three or more. I check the EE council or other places when I get a ping or 
when I need help with something or to complain about something. These are barely social 
spaces for me and I have been openly critical of the way Wizden handles things for awhile 
now, as I think was my right as a senior contributor who had felt neglected or ignored more 
than once. 
 
I have never harassed or condoned the harassment of anyone and the screenshots that I 
have seen that have me in them are either coincidental that I was having a conversation at 
the same time as someone else, me having a jibe at Wizden the organisation for how they 
have handled something or reacted which has impacted me, or commenting again on 
something that has directly impacted me by a specific person. This is not harassment, if you 
can’t take legitimate criticism or actually discuss disagreements then the internet is not the 
place for you. Hiding behind your powers when someone disagrees with you or your friends 
is not the way to go, have an open conversation and understand each other. 
 
And a final, final note, I was never involved with Nyanotrasen / Nyano. I was actually staff at 
Wizden at the time and was fully on Wizdens side. I’ll cover all this drama in detail later but 
this misinformation that I was involved in, comes from people who I don’t even know and 
never saw active during my time at Wizden? 
 

 



Timeline of Events 
Note: Some of the dates and information might be fuzzy since I got banned and lost access 
to some channels in Wizden. I will try to cross reference and check info where possible. 
Dates / Events in light blue are things I was witness to but probably not involved in. 
 

-​ February 2021 - Start contributing to SS14. I do a few PRs learning yaml up until 
April and then I take a break till December due to having a baby. 
 

-​ December 2021 - I start contributing again and quickly hit the 100 hour playtime 
requirement to apply for admin. I become admin in December and then all of my 
playtime past 100 hours is admining for Wizden which is over 400 hours. I’d usually 
admin while contributing in the background. A lot of my contribution to this date was 
fixing things and adding content that was still missing. At this time in SS14 we had 
Saltern and maybe Packed and barely any content or prototypes. 
 

-​ February 2022 - NSS Pillar V1 comes out. The first mid to large pop map. Lots more 
fixes, new roles added to the game, started maintaining packed station too. 
 

-​ April 22 - Split Station comes out, another large pop map met with mixed feelings, the 
entire idea was to do something radical and for testing of grid splitting as a feature. 
 

-​ April 22 - Nyanotrasen (Nyano) is formed by Rane. Daemon is the host. I have zero 
involvement as I believe forking at this early stage to be a waste of time and believe 
people should be contributing to Wizden to progress it faster. I have zero interaction 
with Nyanotrasen and have only spoken to Rane and Daemon through contributor 
chats on Wizden and Daemon was staff on Wizden for a period. 
 

-​ June 22 - I raise it with PJB in DMs the need for a map maintainer or a PM solely 
responsible for Yaml and content direction. This is ignored. They later appoint Emisse 
as the map maintainer despite saying we don’t need one and have too many maps? 
Emisse is great but I have always felt a bit scorned that I wrote the mapping guide 
and helped so many people get into mapping but it seems Emisse was favorited, 
power to them, but I hope it wasn’t favouritism by the project team. 
 

-​ July 22 - I start Nuclear14 (later to become singularity network) as mentioned 
because I’m fed up of the PR back and forth and want my own creative control to 
merge things and enact my vision of gameplay. This is more or less a placeholder 
and not much work actually gets done on it until later. 
 

-​ August 22 - Seija, a Wizden admin, is removed from staff. We are given very little info 
about this but we later learn from leaks they are accused of pedo related stuff. This is 
one of the catalysts for all drama that ensued after to this day. 

 
-​ November 22 - Todd Howard, another Wizden game admin is removed from Wizden 

and banned. Seemingly for being volatile towards Wizden staff. At this time they are 



an admin in Nuclear 14 despite the server not actually being up for nearly another 
year. 
 

-​ April 23 - Related to the November incident, in now deleted DMs with Freeman which 
was a Wizden PM at the time, I ask if there is any issues with having Todd Howard 
on our staff because I’d rather be in the clear and not be dehubbed for having a 
blacklisted person on staff. They say they will raise it internally and I hear nothing 
back. Go to November 23 for why this is relevant and August 24. 
 

-​ April 23 - I continue contributing regularly up until this point. 
-​ April 23 - I message PJB for the second time, explaining that I’m concerned with how 

the project is being ran and certain people who are being promoted and the lack of 
community engagement or communication around the promotions. I ask for some 
transparency on what the project manager (PM) role actually does and express I 
don’t think Moony should be in that position after having driven many contributors 
away from the project and being a terrible communicator (Add to the fact they were 
underage when they were on staff and seemingly were kept on because they were a 
competent coder? Or other reasons? As of writing they were removed from the 
project?) This message to PJB goes ignored. 
 

-​ April 23 - Nyano is dehubbed at some point after surpassing 1000 discord members 
and being the second most popular English server behind Wizden. Details here and 
here from wizden. There’s enough stuff in there but from my perspective a lot of the 
“harassment” (In quotations because I was not involved so I’m just taking peoples 
word for this, some of it obviously is but let's mention the what first) was in retaliation 
to Seija being removed from staff and the supposed hypocrisy around that involving 
Smugleaf. I have personally never said a bad word against smugleaf and have only 
had good dealings with them, talking about RSIedit and Colonial Marines etc and 
generally through contributing. This is not my drama to discuss, this is my 
observation from the outside looking in knowing what I know about Seija getting 
kicked off staff and ultimately quitting the game hard because of the torment they got 
over it, whether right or wrong again I don’t know the full picture so I won’t comment. 
 

-​ August 23 - Nuclear 14 Alpha which is a wave defence mode finally releases. 
 

-​ November 23 - I receive a DM from MetalGearSloth (MGS) regarding Todd Howard, 
an ex Wizden game admin and at the time our discord admin lead, telling me why he 
was removed from staff. This came about because someone realised I hadn’t actually 
been told and it seemed to slip through the net. As far as I could tell this was all just 
assumptions again with no evidence and was related to Seija which again wasn’t 
exactly communicated effectively. MGS left it at “up to you what you want to do”. Due 
to lack of any actual evidence and just the odd message from a Wizden PM I ignored 
it as I had a good reason to. I asked for clarification again in August 24 and was told 
the same thing with no evidence. Todd was later removed from staff in October 24 for 
an unrelated reason (volatility towards other staff). 
 

-​ March 24 - I have a few closed PRs here at which point I stop contributing because 
of the sheer friction of it. 

https://forum.spacestation14.com/t/2023-05-04-dehubbing-of-nyanotrasen/4836
https://forum.spacestation14.com/t/clarification-towards-nyanotrasen-our-handling-to-the-situation-and-changes-from-here-on/4827


 
-​ April 24 - I update the mapping wiki since it's been largely untouched with new 

features in its entire time existing apart from my update. I still have an open draft to 
this day which was also opened in April to further improve it, but since I’ve gave so 
much to the project and received little recognition and quite the opposite, I won’t be 
contributing further without proper recognition. 

 
-​ July 24 - I message PJB for the third time ever in DMs reporting a Russian fork for 

violating our licensing and making changes which were not public on the Github. 
They tell me how to get evidence and so I go and get evidence. They then speak to 
the server and they supposedly comply which is great. No issues with this 
whatsoever. In other public channels I discuss license violations (Admin / host / 
community bus I can’t remember) and suggest there should be a mechanical way of 
enforcing licensing because me having to police it is a ridiculous waste of time. The 
Russian fork goes back to breaking the license again pretty quick but I can’t be 
bothered to keep chasing it up. They eventually shut the server anyway. 

 
-​ 22 October 24 - A number of staff realise they have been banned from RMC and 

their discord. I notice I have been banned too. I reach out to Whisper but get ignored. 
I reach out to DrSmugLeaf and get ignored, again despite talking periodically with 
them between April 23 and July 24 on things like contributing and RSI Editor. If there 
was legitimately an issue then isn’t it best to talk about them first or at least make the 
person aware rather than using enforcement action from your friends (more on that 
next). 

 
-​ 01 November 24 - Singularity Network receives its first strike. At the time I had no 

idea what was going on and the evidence was non-existent. I assume it’s because 
some people in our community started being vocal about being banned from RMC 
and or trashing Wizden which was against our rules. I discuss it with PJB in DMs to 
be given no real answers.I was stuck in traffic on my way to work when I read this 
and was actually taken aback by receiving it and the wording in the message being 
horrid. Again from all previous conversations with PJB and others I had no idea this 
was coming. Despite feeling this way I deliberately did not share the screenshots with 
anyone except our maintainer chat because I knew it would cause even more uproar 
and trashing. Because of deteriorating relations later on I share this with the staff and 
some key contributors as they’re asking more questions about why we got a strike, 
and this does cause a lot of emotion towards PJB / Wizden with some people but 
again this is not made public at this time. I later saw comments about betraying PJBs 
trust by releasing that DM and to that I have to say A) It was extremely 
unprofessional and not warranted so people need to see that for themselves to 
believe it. B) This was an official warning from the project and as such should not be 
treated as private information. If they want to sprinkle extra abuse into that message 
that’s on them. 

 
-​ 09 November 24 - I reach out to PJB because of a message they put in the Wizden 

maintainer chat (see below). I reach out, see below). 
 



-​ 10 November 24 - There’s a mass staff walk out at Wizden by head admins and 
game staff over the way things are being ran and other reasons. As ex staff I actually 
still have access to the staff-off-topic channel that this was all first discussed in. I 
spend a few hours offering constructive comments and trying to get to the bottom of 
what the actual roles and responsibilities of PMs are, as I’ve asked many times. I was 
finalised on writing a massive message on how nobody is to blame and how to find a 
way forward (I’ve worked in hundred million pound construction projects for years, I 
know a thing or two about effective project management), then I was removed by 
PJB because apparently ex staff are now no longer welcome in the ex staff chat, 
another disregard for my time and effort in their community. See below, I again open 
up and offer to help but am met with “be glad I didn't deem it necessary to ban you 
from the Discord entirely”. 
I again ask for evidence and am met with more asshole comments until we finally get 
to an actual reason which is “Having ODJ on staff”, which is in no way related to the 
strike we received? So we’re getting a strike for having ODJ on as a mapping 
contributor for historic issues they have with him. I again end the string of messages 
with offers of support and suggestions to improve their community and am told that 
any apologies and such are not aimed at us. 
 

-​ 16 December 24 - I received a message from PJB saying to get VMSolidus (VM) to 
contact them otherwise our servers will be dehubbed. I don’t speak for VM and I fail 
to see how this is a dehubbable offence, without strikes or what rules it breaks? 
Again misusing power to get what they want from people. I’m told that by being in 
their discord server that I’m complicit and endorsing their actions. (again, I only go 
there when I need technical support or the odd time I’m pinged for an opinion. It’s 
also possible for more than one conversation to be going on at once in discord and to 
not be involved in the others). I again get met with the ultimatum and respond by 
asking what compensation I get for the torment they have caused me because they 
fail to seek advice or take it. 

 
At this point I have no reason to believe they will stick to their word and won’t just dehub us 
all anyway at a later date, given we’ve had strikes and now this over nothing, and despite 
having no allegiance to Einstein Engines (EE), I would rather get dehubbed for literally not 
breaking the rules to show the types of people who are running the hub, than step down 
from an organisation I really don’t care about being in. Ultimately this will hurt my 
community's growth which is negligent, but I think it’s something worth standing for. 
Dehubbing ensues, doesn’t seem to affect our numbers too much but will affect our growth. 
We make our own hub and start making joking names about what to name our new 
launcher. 
 
At this point I’m very passionate about the damage PJB is doing to the project, but I opt to let 
it go to focus on making something better from this dumpster fire of a project that I’ve spent 
years of my life contributing to. Over the past few months there’s been two or three 
occasions that have bothered me to my core and made me wish I never found this game and 
tried so hard to make it better or spent countless hundreds of hours contributing to it, and it 
was all entirely avoidable. That was until now in late January 2025 where I see more 
misinformation being spread about me from people who have no idea or should know better 
but choose not to question things. So I felt I needed to set them straight. 



 
Below will be all the evidence to go along with the timeline as well as specific instances of 
misinformation that I have rebuttals for.  



Evidence 
All evidence will be denoted Figure E(x). Since google docs is terrible for image citation / 
labelling I’ll also denote things like DMs differently sometimes for my sanity e.g. Figure 
E-name-1, starting with PJB since it's the most commonly cited DMs. 
 
Where possible I will omit or redact messages from the other party that may be sensitive or 
that they might not want shown, but I’m fully open to releasing them all as I’ve been fully 
professional and cordial in all correspondence. 

Figure E-PJB-1 
Oh discord, you didn’t say the start of a budding friendship or something else cheesy. 

 
My first ever message directly to PJB in 2022 asking for Grafana access for logging reasons 
or something. They give me grafana access, I say thanks then we have no more DM 
communication till the next evidence.  



Figure E-PJB-2 

 
This message was in relation to a lot of uproar in the cartography channel about the way 
things were being handled by the project and its representative maintainers.  
 
This is my first time making it plainly clear I’d be interested in helping the project out to a 
higher degree either as a maintainer for content and maps (yaml and mapping) or as a 
project manager to help coordinate and communicate. At this point I’ve likely written the 
mapping wiki and guided many new mappers as well as probably being in the top 10 
contributors at this point for lines of code (due to mapping) as well as volume of PRs doing 
yaml and sprite porting. 
 
We chat for an hour and I mention all the maps currently in production and some of the 
issues we have as mappers and ultimately it gets shrugged off as we have too many maps. 
Not long after this Emisse is appointed as the Mapping Maintainer despite me getting told its 
not something they want, fine, things change. This chat ends with my message here: 



Figure E-PJB-3 
My next direct message to PJB is almost a year later. This is around the time of the Nyano 
dehubbing. 

 
Not redacting this as I stand by it. I’d have to rack my brain on who was driven away from 
the project by Moony being terrible at communicating with contributors and very abrasive, 
but they reminded me of working with Swept in the early days of SS14. 
 
I’ve since cleared out my DMs but I had a conversation with an old long-time SS14 PM who 
has since moved on and they also did not agree with this decision and it was hard to find 
many people who did. It seemed like a clear line of favouritism and really blurred the 
purpose of having maintainers and project managers separate. Moony was a good coder, I 
won’t deny that so worthy of the maintainer role, but representing your project seemed like a 
big red flag. 
 
Add to that that Moony was appointed to the staff team while underage which was against 
the Wizden rules, and they were more than open about this in the staff chat at the time when 
I was a game admin with them. 
 
My other general concerns are communication. When bringing on lots of new project 
managers the community and wider team want to know the appointments are sound with 
sound reasoning and experience (if applicable). It’s super jarring taking a break or just 
coming onto discord and seeing lots of new colourful names of people who now have a big 
influence on the project and not knowing who they are.  



Figure E-PJB-4 

 
Again another year plus gap between correspondence after that last message went 
unanswered. This time I raise an AGPL violation for our codebase with PJB. We chatted 
briefly on the 8th about it briefly on how to prove it. I return on the 23rd of July with evidence 
and PJB sorts it out with them and says they’re considering striking them for breaking the 
license in the first place. 
 
Not long after the codebase goes back to violating it again and I try to resolve it with the 
hosts again as I did the first time but ultimately they close the server. I lost interest in 
bringing this to PJB as I had already made my stance clear at this point in other public 
places that I don’t think I should have to keep an eye on the hub to detect every license 
violation. Which you’ll see used against me in R3 and further which is a misunderstanding on 
PJBs part.  



Figure E-PJB-5 
Here is where the hub strike occurs, again the first message since last communications. 

 

 
This is the full communication for that day, as stated elsewhere I received this totally out of 
the blue and read it while driving to work. At this point do we need to point out the systematic 
slandering of myself and my community instigated by a small group and parroted by the 
many. I’d like to ask any of these people so far if any of them have an actual instance where 
they’ve interacted with me and got the impression I’m anything I’ve been accused of? 
Including all of the old Wizden maintainers and admins I worked with.  



Figure E-PJB-6 

 
For continuity, this is the next message sent with the previous and next messages / dates 
visible. As you’ll notice no messages have been deleted or edited in this chat. 
 
This was my message reaching out to clarify that I don’t actually have an issue with Wizden, 
explaining why I went to do my own thing and ultimately reaching out to tell them I 
understand how they’re feeling and offering some self help advice. I’m really a terrible guy I 
know. 

 



Figure E-PJB-7 

 
The day after. Speaks for itself. This is in relation to the mass admin walk out and me still 
having access to the staff-off-topic channel in Wizden as I’m ex staff and that is allowed. I 
was offering advice and questioning how things got the way they are, trying to genuinely 
help and was removed. 
 
Notice how most of my messages go ignored and they remain on the line of hostility. 
Towards the end we start to get some real truth in the matter (well sort of, still need a list of 
the communities plural that I’ve harmed, more on that in the forum rebuttals). But specifically 
the people they care about. Again plural, I can only assume this whole thing is about RMC 
but who knows and again, no harassment of any kind there.  



Figure E-PJB-8 

 
Timestamps show this is the next message. PJB leads again with an attack on me. I then get 
a lesson in human empathy from the person who ignores most of my communications and 
especially when I’ve shown above and beyond levels of empathy reaching out to them to 
help and support on multiple occasions even after getting abusive messages like fuck 
yourself with a rake or pathetic piece of shit. I guess I’m an idiot for trying. 
 
 



We then finally get to what I think might be the point of the strike, which is truly bizarre given 
the reasons given for the strike. As a reminder I’ve been painted in this conversation and 
others as some sort of ring leader perpetuating harassment against multiple communities 
and involved in it myself, and now we get to the fact ODJ at this time was a head mapper in 
Singularity Network, which as we specifically delineated in our org chart is a contributor role 
and not a staff role. 
 
ODJ was appointed as head mapper in January 2024 and I can’t remember if they lost that 
role or what during their time with us but they didn’t actually start mapping until around July 
2024 if discord messages serve. They’ve had various levels of involvement through our 
history which I won’t deny, but from what I know their main issues are around the Nyano 
dehub time which again was around April 23. Their actions are their own and I’ve made it 
clear the rules apply to everyone so nothing has happened related to Singularity involving 
them that I know of. As previously stated we removed Todd for being volatile towards 
another member of staff and ODJ received the same warning to a lesser degree hence 
retaining their role. As far as I can tell the whole drama is between them and one or two key 
Wizden staff members, and as previously stated originated from Wizdens handling of 
dismissing a staff member and onwards. 
 
So to me I categorise things like that as a personal drama between people. Can it evolve to 
harassment? Of course it can. I don’t claim to know all of the facts, but equally because 
Wizden leadership weren’t transparent with the facts and still don’t take proper accountability 
or transparency then you wonder why some people perpetuate what they know? Again, I am 
not condoning any harassment here, just speaking from what I know. Anyone spreading 
misinformation or causing drama in my community will be removed. Yes we have had lapses 
sometimes as every community does, specifically when we get targeted by people and 
emotions start to run high. But that doesn’t stop me from keeping standards and removing 
things that cross the line. I removed some just today on 01/02/2025 in fact and warned the 
user. 
 
PJB continues to throw stones at me personally in this conversation and so I point at them to 
fix their own mess first. Having maintainers and project managers who cause so much stress 
and hurt for other people and they’re allowed to stay, not to mention the people getting outer 
for similar allegations they lay at other people as mentioned at the bottom. I recall in hosting 
chat when MetalGearSloth said that publicly about Todd and PJB had to tell them to redact 
the name because it is effectively slander. 

 



Figure E-PJB-9 

 
Continuation of the conversation. 
 
I make the point again that I’m willing to talk about the issues at hand. 
 
The message I’m referring to I thought was about their health was a message they sent in 
the maintainer chat below labelled Figure E1. Again, I’ve tried on many occasions to help 
over the years to avoid this exact situation from occurring. Maybe it wouldn’t have worked 
but who knows, since I’ve tried my best to offer support and even in this conversation but no, 
they have to point out that I’m not worthy of an apology. Now that I don’t have access to the 
staff off topic chat anymore I can’t offer the evidence but it was regarding them being 
stressed. 
 
At the bottom of my main message I reference some past project managers who have left 
the project for various reasons but it being mismanaged down the toilet is potentially part of 
that. I spoke with Paul about similar issues in the past and he agreed and I started 
contributing around the same time as Mirrorcult and felt we always had a similar vibe for 
ideas on gameplay. They were my head admin when I was there when it first became a thing 
and I was surprised to see they had left as PM when I came back recently. 



Again I offer advice to help them overcome the situation.  



Figure E-PJB-10 

 
My final messages continued on. This is later referenced in RF3 in which this is me being 
given “a chance to leave with evidence clearly presented and he chose to side with the 
harasser”. 
 
As you can see this is a clearly evidenced message with a choice of leaving. No, in fact this 
is a threat with zero evidence and a demand to get someone to contact them otherwise there 
are consequences. I’m not a messenger, I don’t speak for EE, I’m not a member of 
SimpleStation who are the organisation owners of EE. 
 
I have never endorsed anything, just not refuted it again as we have covered in other 
evidence here. Despite that I actually did forward on the message to VM and the council (so 
complied but still got dehubbed) and as stated elsewhere I don’t respond to threats, so was 
willing to get dehubbed because of that. Not for being a part of EE. 
 
My last message is a jibe back given this whole conversation history you have now viewed. 
On two occasions sending horrible messages causing me stress and anxiety and not 
wishing I never devoted so much of my time and energy to the SS14 community, often at the 
expense of my own relationships. (My partner loves to tell me that I talk to strangers on the 
internet and to “get off that game” when I’m coding or something).  



Figure E1 



Rebuttals 

Figure R1 

 
1.​ I was never involved with Nyano and again was staff at Wizards Den at the time, long 

before you were even involved in this project. 
2.​ My involvement with SSMV was also miniscule. I was interested in the prospect of 

decentralised auth because I’ve long been a proponent of decentralisation for a 
number of reasons not just limited to the wizden auth going down periodically and 
dooming us all. I had never contributed there and over its lifetime I have advertised 
my server there but that’s about it. I don’t know Skye and have had zero dealing with 
any drama they have been involved with. 

3.​ Name any more drama I’ve been involved in other than the EE fiasco which again, I 
have no allegiance to them. They’re simply our upstream codebase for two forks and 
I only chose them for that because of their loadout system. It’s not that deep. 

4.​ If PJB wants to send official communications through DM and append them with 
abusive messages and to quote them, harassment, then I don’t think its bad to A) 
share that message of dehubbing with my team at the highest level, not at game 
admin level, and later to share it to contributors after they lost all my respect for being 
abusive. To this day it is still a surprise they sent those messages. PJB has some 
sort of personal issues with me and I can only speculate why. And you expect me not 
to share the latter ones to show how utterly horrid they have been to me? The only 
way to prove it is to show the receipts. A lot of people are still blind to it and wont ask 
questions.  



Figure R2 

 
I went off the deep end? No, I just got bored of being ignored and undervalued for trying to 
improve the project so I went and did my own thing. Literally tried to just spread fallout to 
SS14, ultimately changed our upstream and now I’m the antichrist?  



Figure R3 

 
Let's talk about this one. Oniks lays out a message about DMCAing Wizden over seemingly 
legitimate licensing issues. Nothing is mentioned at this time about CSAM or whatever else 
makes it into the eventual report. This is seemingly all about licensing and nothing to do with 
disrupting SS14. I barely know Oniks so I won’t comment on that but what I will say is I then 
making a joke about us all getting dehubbed, hence the emoji. I then talk about a licensing 
issue we had which was resolved by PJB. At no point in this picture am I saying it was not 
resolved or Wizden did not help? What I’m referring to is being told its stupid to try 
mechanically police license violations and automate detection. This was in July in hostbus. 
Aka checks and balances. I then talk about some other irrelevant stuff in that picture. This is 
oniks talking about his personal DMCA for his codebase and nothing to do with me or EE for 
that matter. It’s just coincidental they post it in this chat full of people who may be interested. 
I couldn’t care less. I find DMCA’s pretty pointless and I’m extremely jaded about licensing 
now.  



Figure R4 

 
Again, this is the evidence banded about which I have addressed above. However what 
even is that screenshot on the left? Can we please put outlines on things so I can tell when 
you’ve mashed things together? So let's provide the full context for those messages which 
were in April 2024, context for the ones I’m actually involved in. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Figure 4.2 

 
So firstly this was again in April 2024, many months prior to any current drama. This is not 
me inviting some “harassers” into my community. This is me making a joke about them 
joining, as denoted by the emoji which I use often when saying throwaway comments. Below 
is the extent of my DMs with Oniks. We have barely communicated outside of public 
channels so calling me affiliated with whatever they get up to is a stretch. 
 
My comments about harbouring two misfits is also a bit of a joke as I’m referring to ODJ and 
Todd Howard, people who at this point have been pretty quiet in the community and the 
latter I was still to receive anything about that was evidence. 
 
I then reaffirm that I have no idea what any other community is up to because I have my own 
community to worry about. 
 
The Emisse evidence on the left is then cut extremely close together that it almost looks like 
the same conversation, and is so low res it took me ages to read any of the words to find the 
context, so see that below in Figure 4.3 
 
 
 
 
 



Figure 4.3 

 
Again additional context either side of the sliced messages. Parky who is part of 
simplestation / parkstation is asking VM and Death how far they got on setting up alt 
infrastructure aka hub or launcher, not sure. 
 
I then say we can spin up a hub anytime, which isn’t bad and is what Wizden wanted us to 
do? I also say we can fork SSMV anytime, but in actual fact I personally don’t want to do that 
work if I don’t have to. 
 
I then make the observation on this channel not being private, which then my next message 
is me confirming I knew it wasn’t. I’m not a moderator or admin of the EE discord so I have 
no idea of knowing what the setup is. Not that it matters.  



Figure 4.4 
My full DM history with Oniks. This is what an affiliate co conspirator discussion looks like. 

 



Figure R5 
Oh boy, a juicy one. 

 
Firstly at Bhijn, where to even start. 

-​ We have never been involved in hostility towards other servers. Some of us have 
made both public comments on how certain servers administer, which is not “hostility 
towards other servers”, especially if it's private, and is the sort of stuff every server 
including Wizden does, public and private. 

-​ “Servers” plural. Please list the servers who we have been hostile towards? It’s fairly 
public; we assume it's RMC and by extension Wizden as you can see from the 
timeline above. Again, nothing hostile towards their staff specifically, just the way they 
operate which we disagree with, but that’s their prerogative, and it's fine for people to 
disagree with you. 

-​ Thirdly, if you have an issue with someone, it's good practice to reach out to them 
and let them know you have an issue. I thought I had a good relationship with a 
number of people involved including the RMC leads but apparently not. 

-​ I am not responsible for what some of my staff do or say when they play on other 
servers, see my previous comment, if you have an issue or a suspicion then bring it 
to me. I have a number of examples of people raising issues with me and taking it 
extremely seriously to the point of removing a number of previous staff. At the same 



time, what happens on your server is up to you to administer and we won’t take 
baseless accusations or peoples personal drama seriously, you can ban them in your 
place and be done with it. I’m not your police force. 

-​ We’re pretty sure we know who your source is. It’s not hard to know and we still can’t 
think of anything that they might have “leaked” that could be “harassment” or 
“hostility”. Again, hostility is something public and known. Please show me receipts of 
hostility. And just to add, see R1. At what point is leaking internal private 
conversations a breach of trust and at what point do you start applauding a 
whistleblower? Double standard much? 

-​ Back to my previous point on who it is. Despite it being a breach of trust I’m willing to 
let it slide on whoever the leaker is provided you’re able to provide the actual 
evidence for us to discuss. Again we’re pretty certain of who it is and they still haven’t 
been removed so take that as the assurance. Furthermore, if you simply ask for 
clarification on a point then you will receive it, rather than assuming the worst of 
people. Conversation is key. 

 
Now onto my personal harasser, PJB. 

-​ Not fun banding around that word is it. 
-​ I am not Frontier, maybe you’re confusing me with license violations that Checkraze 

have brought to you, easy mistake to make I guess but better to think before you 
speak? 

-​ I did bring license violations to you which you did help resolve. Thank you. The 
process still wasn’t fun however and my comments in the EE chat are not relating to 
you, but rather to the hostbus discussion as detailed in Figure R3. Not once did I say 
in that screenshot that you did not help, I’m saying I felt very dismissed when I 
suggested in hostbus that we attempt to mechanically monitor license violations to 
make detection easier. But somehow your raw hatred for me makes you jump to a 
totally off and worse conclusion and call me names yet again? I really need to know 
at what point you started to dislike me and why, again simply asking for clarification 
would have got it but we all know what ASS-U-ME does. 

-​ So back to my first point in this section. If we go by your definition of what a harasser 
is, I have exhibited zero of these tendencies. If you use the American English 
dictionary definition then the majority of people on the internet are annoying, that 
doesn’t mean I feel harassed everytime I read their messages. If we use the English 
Law definition as per the cambridge dictionary, both linked below, then I have at no 
point verbally abused you at least not to the extent and manner that you have to me. 
https://dictionary.cambridge.org/dictionary/english/harassment 
 
And yet still I consider myself able to bury the hatchet, despite the distress you’ve 
caused me on a number of occasions. Which I especially don’t think you would after 
this document is released and to be honest I don’t see much benefit when I know 
you’ll still hate me.  

https://dictionary.cambridge.org/dictionary/english/harassment


Figure R6 
The assumptions and hyperbole, I cant. 

 
-​ I've been mentioned a lot of times in a lot of places over the past year, apparently 

people like sharing the messages I get sent from prominent figures in the community. 
-​ See Figure R3. I had no idea that CSAM was going to be used in that DMCA request 

and additionally I was not responsible for the DMCA or involved in any step of that 
process. I don’t even think the DMCA was sent on behalf of the council? It was a 
DMCA claim between whitedream and Wizards Den for failing to take down licensed 
materials? Who knows. 

-​ The assumption was to take over wizden too? Really? See above for my perceived 
reason for the DMCA claim. It isn’t to “take down” Wizden and nobody has any 
intention of “taking over”. What a wild claim that would literally be impossible? Yes 
there’s a lot of talk in the EE discord about making an alt launcher and a lot of jokes 
around what to name it and to be a competitor with the SS14 launcher, but that would 
be unrelated to the DMCA? 

-​ “Prior actions of his community”. Again, useless comment and again if we want to 
talk about actions of communities then Wizden has its own skeletons. 

-​ Figure R6.1 below shows the first time I was made aware of CSAM in the DMCA, 
which was a day later(?) The reason for mentioning it seems sound from Oniks 
though? It’s not my DMCA or community so I’m not going to ask questions or assume 
they’re lying? I’m literally not getting involved other than sending a few messages 
around the subject in the council chat. And pinged multiple times is a stretch. The 
council was pinged for the first message, then again for this one. So one ping after 
the CSAM allegation was made. Maybe again if we had a hostbus or similar that 
actually functioned then we could talk about our issues and resolve them instead of 
issuing strikes without discussion or resorting to DMCAs. Transparency is key. 

 
 



Figure R6.1 



Figure R7 

 
False. I don’t speak for the council or the administration of Einstein Engines as I’m not a 
founder or involved with simplestation who are the organisation behind it, but this is false as 
far as I’m aware. 
 
To be on the council all you need to do is have an EE fork. You then get equal say in any 
decision making which is for the better of the shared codebase. However in my experience 
the EE council has been pretty pointless in its whole existence, or that I’m literally not 
involved enough to notice or care what goes on. 
 
So a word of advice and not to sound passive aggressive but don’t speak about things you 
don’t know anything about, especially if you are a PM and speak for your project as this is 
misinformation. 

 



Figure R7 
 

 
-​ Might I refer you back to the message where you threatened me to leave EE? It’s not 

a case of siding with anyone, it's a case of standing up for myself when being 
threatened. Give me a list of the “many” serial harassers on the EE council. So far 
I’m only aware of 2 people who could possibly fall under the harasser title and one of 
them is serial and they’re banned from EE. 

-​ Perpetrated, okay. If it’s not clear by now that there’s some fantasy about my motive 
or involvement or lots of false assumptions and misinformation then sure. 

-​ “Buddies”. My relationship with EE is purely professional, as it is with most people in 
the SS14 space. Sorry to be blunt to a lot of people but most of you are aquaintances 
and even when I was very active in Wizden and nowhere else, I never really got 
involved in the other areas of the server or played games with any of you. I don’t 
have time to be paying attention to multiple servers and there are very few people I 
would actually call friends but even then that’s pretty shallow. Even prominent people 
on my staff I have never asked their real name, age etc. I know what country they are 
from and maybe what some of them do for work and maybe their general age 
although I’ve probably forgotten that already. If people call you that in the EE chat 
then take it to their moderators, It’s not my job to moderate there or to correct people 
on things I know nothing about. I really don’t care about the dealings of most other 
people or their communities so I’m not going to go digging to find out for you.



 

Figure R8 

 
@ AdmiralObvious, no offence but no idea who you are and again the long tail of activity is 
either not something anyone is willing to share with me or to continue onto PJBs point: 
 
@ PJB 

-​ I can barely call asking for clarification on things, getting antagonised by your team's 
threats of blanket banning all AGPL forks on more than one occasions in the hosting 
chat, offering genuine support and advice on many occasions over the years to help 
the project and you specifically as spreading harassment and misinformation. 

-​ So you wonder why when I get a message saying “Wizden are thinking about 
banning all AGPL forks”, that I’m not going to appear all aggravated because I’ve put 
a lot of effort into my fork and because your team are having issues with moderation 
that falls on my neck? 

-​ The mystery strike that based on other evidence is actually to do with historic things 
done by other people?  



Figure R9 

 
“Appear to be complicit”. So we’re finally admitting that all might not be what it seems and 
that still nobody has reached out for clarification? 
 
I’ve said it before and I’ll say it again. You have a team of people who are “project managers” 
“community moderators” and other roles that change by the month, and yet you let the most 
hot headed personally involved LEADER of your organisation send out threats and official 
communications? Instead of having your specifically labelled team reach out to issue notices 
or clear things up. 
 
Even after the first strike and the horrid messages I said that we have already taken steps to 
reduce whatever the perceived issue is and I was met with “Anyways if you did in fact tell 
your community to "knock it off" then that's good to hear. I hope to not have to 
communicate with you again so that the strike can naturally expire in a year. That's 
why there's 3 strikes after all” 
 
Does this not show that we’re willing to make changes when things are actually brought to 
us?  



Now we move onto the latest forum post, I’ll change the formatting of evidence to RF so 
there’s room to expand later. 
 
https://forum.spacestation14.com/t/open-discussion-about-issues-with-project-management-
and-hub-enforcement/15373/18 

Figure RF1 

 
1.​ Ditto. There have been many cases now of this in Wizards Den whether it's 

harassment or otherwise. EE isn’t a harassment server. If it has harassers in it that’s 
nothing to do with me, I’m there because it's my upstream and I need code support. 

2.​ I have on multiple occasions said I don’t stand with any harassers. Point me to 
something legitimate that isn’t two people throwing insults at each other and I will act 
accordingly. I have also said on many occasions I do not stand with EE. See answer 
1, I can leave at any time and would leave if I see a need to, but being threatened to 
leave because I don’t do what PJB says does not fly with me. I don’t accept threats 
and made a stance specifically because of that NOT to leave. 

 



Figure RF2 

 
Hello again Powder (powderuuf on discord). For everyone reading this now, Powder was 
taken on to Singularity Network as a moderator, which is our trial admin position. They joined 
our discord on the 07/05/2024 and were later banned from our discord on the 18/05/2024 
which we will cover. 
 
They applied for an admin position on the 9th of May which is still public here. In hindsight 
this was an extremely short time in the community and they should have been told to wait at 
least a month or two of being active before applying for a staff position, but I recognised they 
seemed to be very active and passionate about helping and at the time it seemed like a 
good idea. Do note, our Lead Admin at the time Skorn abstained from the vote due to having 
previous history with Powder at parkstation. Skorn remained objective and impartial and the 
remaining admins voted to let Powder join the team. Very quickly they made members of our 
team feel uncomfortable with the messages they were sending as shown in RF2.1 below 
until all members who originally voted for them to join the team quickly did a uturn and didn’t 
want them in the team anymore. Skorn as lead admin was the one to break the news to 
Powder. 
 
I was on holiday at the time trying to relax on a Beach while simultaneously dealing with 
Powder who was threatening me in DMs. During this conversation they seem to be fixated 
on how this affects their reputation, to which I let them know this would all be kept private but 
they themselves started to share they had been let go and lied to about their assurances 
coming to Singularity. I reaffirmed this was based on them not bringing drama here which 
they did, as multiple people had messaged me to detail what they had actually been 
removed for in other places. 
 
Compound that with the weird blackmail and other stuff in RF2.1 as well as the images in 
RF2.2 and 2.3 which are far too creepy and conspiracy theory for my tastes and want that 
stuff as far away from my gaming community as possible. Out of decency for them I kept all 
of this in house but if they really want me to post the entire chat history to prove there was 
absolutely zero harassment going on, and their interpretation of that word is us letting them 
go during their trial period for bringing drama to the community which I specifically warned 
them against, and ultimately not being a good fit for the team. Do note RF2.2 was deleted by 
powder in our DMs. 
 

https://discord.com/channels/995395906042073131/1237908033133084722/1237908033133084722


RF2.1 

 
Its nice that you have hobbies but I really don’t want to be reading about blackmail and stuff 
in our staff off topic channel or in any way involved in it. I’m here to make a game and have 
fun.  



RF2.2 and RF2.3 

         
Threats of escalation, paying people to infiltrate and all this other stuff is just too much 
conspiracy theory for me. I was on a Beach at the time on holiday for a wedding and really 
didn’t need this drama in my inbox. 
 
 
So to summarise this section, if you really do hold evidence of harassment by me or against 
anyone else then please publicly post it and prove it. Otherwise stop slandering me and my 
community in public forums over topics you have zero involvement in. You have shared your 
evidence with others and they also can’t see any wrongdoing so at a point just admit you’ve 
got it wrong.  



RF3 - Post 30 
I’m not going to address the first comment because its been rehashed a million times now.

 
-​ “We gave him a chance to leave with evidence clearly presented and he chose to 

side with the harassers”. See Figure E-PJB-10 
-​ Provide receipts please. 

RF3.2 

 
“Best interest of the community”. Really? This chain of events has drastically split the 
community. You can pretend that EE is a minority of people and that they’re all horrible so 
you’ll be better off without them, but the effects are much further reaching than that. 
 
Firstly, the Nyano dehubbing scared off just about every SS13 community that was even 
considering coming over here. Secondly, Goob, Frontier and a selection of other servers 
make up the majority of the EN speaking servers that aren’t Wizden. Your own servers are in 
disarray due to mismanagement that your head admins felt enough to walk out on, so this 
large section of the community you are spitting and pissing off will feel less likely to stick 
around. Remember I was on your side during the nyano dehub. Some of what’s gone on is 



warranted, but the way it's handled is always absolutely poor and some of the people 
involved point blank should not be public facing representatives of the project. As I’ve 
previously warned. 

RF3.3 

 
Are you actually blind? Or just blind to reason once you get a negative bias towards 
someone? The receipts are above, you have the exact same ones if anyone wants to 
validate and cross check them. See Figure E-PJB-10 you point blank threatened to dehub us 
if we didn’t do what you asked. There is no hub rule that says “Do what PJB asks”. 
 
Parrot the harassment line at me all you want and dehub yourself. SS14 as a project would 
be better off without official servers is a line I’ve said before but we know that’s not realistic. 

RF3.4 

 
1.​ Fantasise about being harassed by members of the community. 
2.​ Say stupid unprofessional shit instead of actually asking them what's up or dealing 

with it. 
3.​ Get called out for it because it's not good behaviour. 
4.​ Strike the community because you hold all the cards. 



 
You see I’m starting to get snarky now myself having to reread all this crap. I’m fully 
transparent about the goings on here. I’m still confused whether you mean Wizden staff or 
RMC staff but regardless the outcome is the same, no harassment by myself has taken 
place and if my staff have then I’m still yet to be made aware. And I have receipts of other 
people who have brought issues to us and we resolved them immediately. 

RF3.5 

 
And they will be freely ignored. We know what accountability is when people raise 
complaints about project managers and it's fairly well documented at this point. Even if 
something is done it's usually the straw that breaks the camel's back after too long. 

RF3.6 

 
Correct, a strike is communication. It’s an enforcement action. Instead of compiling a 
supposed mountain of evidence, the courteous thing to do and the most productive in a 
cooperative community would be to raise the concern first thing in a neutral semi public 
setting like the hostbus, or better yet, tell server owners to attempt to resolve the issues 
themselves as a first port of call before you get involved. 
 
If the evidence is overwhelming in the first instance and absolute, then sure, issue the strike 
as the first communication. So immediately those things don’t correlate in our instance as 
you say there’s a mountain of evidence. If this was obtained over time by a mole or 
informant then again, look in the mirror and act first with communication rather than waiting 
to try and incriminate people more.  
 
In that conversation I explain how we’ve already taken steps to better ourselves. We held an 
emergency staff meeting to find out what’s going wrong. We got rid of problematic staff and 
warned others, and we introduced core values to better hold ourselves accountable outside 
of just having rules and staff etiquette. We tell you this in that chat and you say good. Your 



informant will be able to confirm all of this. I regularly ask the staff if there are any issues or 
problematic people and remind the community they can report staff if needed. You then 
dehub us for EE reasons rather than our own? 

RF3.7 

 
Holy fucking moses. 

RF3.8 

 
I’d just like to point out again that I was generally in support of the dehubbing as I was very 
entrenched in Wizden at the time. I agree that people who rule lawyer are a pain in the ass, 
however when you’re the listed game developer for this game / platform, you need robust 
processes in place 
 
I really don’t care about the nyano dehub and I’m not even using it as an example, but if 
you’re not able to identify issues with your processes and take steps to improve them then 
you should not be leading a project, or at best you should seek advice from someone who 
does know. That would have avoided needing to write an apology or whatever and would 
remove you from the equation of everything going on now. The problem with most things in 
life is people. Remove the people and remove the problem. Or have robust processes to 
protect your people. 

RF3.9 

 
Oh this again. EE the council or codebase or whatever does not equal EE forks and 
downstreams. I’m not even going to repeat myself on my involvement in EE or why the 
council is pointless but if it all hinges on you having a conversation with VMSolidus who does 
not speak for my community or my projects then please let me know what you’re smoking, 
because I’ll need some to take the edge off. 



RF3.10 

 
I presume you mean Figure R3 above? I can only see two screenshots of my messages at a 
glance in the dehub notice and one of them is R3 and literally does not say that? 
https://forum.spacestation14.com/t/2024-12-17-dehubbing-of-einstein-engines-servers/15111 
 
Again, make up your own head canon, it's really not that deep. 

RF3.11 

 
Again you are the project lead, you have teams of people to do this for you. I know you might 
be hesitant to do that because of how it was handled in the past causing one person to be 
burnt out, but really you need better processes for all of this. I’ve already laid out as much. 
I’d happily write out a more robust process to highlight it all for you, again wasting my 
precious time on helping a project whose leader hates me. 
 
And me spreading my screenshots is an effort to harass you? You’ve said so yourself just 
above that the strike is a form of communication. I believe in transparency and I have 
nothing to hide in my DMs. I have not spread them for some form of harassment campaign 
but rather to vindicate myself and to help prove a point that you’re not some sort of saint that 
is blameless in all of this. It’s easy to see why I might be against you now and the only way 
to prove that is with receipts. 
 
 
 
____ 
 
This document took many hours just to compile all the screenshots and my responses, this 
is my opinion in places as well as screenshots of fact. And given I don’t get the opportunity 
to respond to a lot of these places due to being banned, this is my opportunity now so 
hopefully it isn’t censored. If I’ve somehow offended anyone with this document or 
something is incorrect then let me know and I’ll issue an update and statement. 

https://forum.spacestation14.com/t/2024-12-17-dehubbing-of-einstein-engines-servers/15111
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